Received Washington State Supreme Court

MAY 1 5 2014 E Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk Supreme Court No. <u>90286</u> -4 Court of Appeals No. 43059 -2 -II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF OLYMPIA,

Respondent,

v.

AARON HULET,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE MUNICIPAL COURT OF THE CITY OF OLYMPIA Judge Scott Ahlf

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Christopher W. Bawn, WSBA #13417 Counsel for Petitioner 1700 Cooper Point Road SW, #A3 Olympia, Washington, 98502 (360) 357-8907

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

:

The Petitioner incorporates by reference here the statement of the case contained in his brief to the Court of Appeals, with a brief recitation of the major facts here.

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court, the matter before the court constitutes a significant question of law under the Washington and U.S. constitutions, and the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court, based upon the three factors this court considers in identifying substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3) and (4); and <u>State v. Hunley</u>, 175 Wn.2d 901, 287 P.3d 584 (2012)(for "substantial public interest" the court considers 1) the public nature of the question presented; 2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and 3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question.

V. ARGUMENT

1.Is the destruction of an entire arraignment hearing and entire deferred prosecution hearing "significant or material" to the criminal defendant's appeal under RALJ 5.4?

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- 1.Is the destruction of an entire arraignment hearing and entire deferred prosecution hearing "significant or material" to the criminal defendant's appeal under RALJ 5.4?
- 2. Can the incomplete docket entries, "inferences," and other unreliable methods employed against Mr. Hulet be used to reconstruct an arraignment and deferred prosecution hearing?
- 3.Does the failure to obtain a knowing and intelligent waiver of numerous constitutional rights violate those rights and a criminal defendant's right to due process when summarily convicting him of a crime after revocation of deferred of prosecution?

RALJ 5.4 requires the court of limited jurisdiction to determine both whether the record is lost and whether it is significant or material. State v. Osman, 168 Wn.2d 632; 229 P.3d 729 (2010)(emphasis in the original). The trial court must make two distinct determinations when it considers materiality under RALJ 5.4. Id. (emphasis in the original). The trial court must determine the content of Here, the trial court determined it was the entire the lost record. arraignment and deferred prosection hearings. Second, the trial court entered an order that "the failure to maintain the audio recording of the [entire] arraignment and deferred prosecution hearings results in a missing record that is not significant and material." CP. 199. The court failed to address any violations caused from not having any "content" of the destroyed hearings because it was precluded by CrRLJ 7.8. See

7/27/2011 RP. 1

;

The Court of Appeals rejected the lower courts' misuse of CrRLJ 7.8, but found that the missing record was not substantial or material to the appeal. The court rejected the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Osman</u>, that RALJ 5.4 does not permit replacing a lost, material record by reconstructing it from other sources; the rule resolves that issue by granting a new trial.

Instead, the court of appeals relied upon docket entries and pieces of paper that are replete with errors and omissions in violation of court rules and statutes and the constitution. The Court of Appeals rejected all of the arguments the Appellant advanced concerning the "arraignment hearing" by claiming they were waived by the appearance of counsel after the arraignment without a a written or on the record statement of the defects. Of course, this is a dubious method of getting out of a missing arraignment when the appearance occurred at a deferred prosection hearing which was also destroyed.

The Court of Appeals ignored the argument that, taken as a whole, rather than piecemeal, the missing arraignment <u>and</u> deferred prosection would violate Article 1, section 10 of the Washington Constitution, since that right requires that justice in all cases is conducted

"openly" (not by destroying the recording of the proceeding before the appeal). In addition the Court of Appeals rejected the argument that: "The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution is also implicated as it provides in relevant part: "No person shall be ... compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law " US Const. Amend. V. The federal rights are applicable to state criminal proceedings by virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment. See Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U.S. 1, 6 (1964). Although entry into a deferred prosecution under former RCW 10.05.020 may not be the equivalent of a guilty plea, because evidentiary issues and the waiver multiple substantial constitutional rights are involved, the entry into a deferred prosecution "must be affirmative, voluntary, knowing, intelligent and on the record." Abad v. Cozza, 128 Wn.2d 575, 583, 911 P.2d 376 (1996)(citing City of Bellevue v. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d 203, 208-09, 691 P.2d 957 (1984)). In Acrey, the Supreme Court held that at a minimum, the defendant must have been informed of "the nature and classification of the charge, the maximum penalty upon conviction and that technical rules exist which will bind defendant in the presentation of his case." Acrey, 103 Wn.2d at 211. Here, the existing record shows that the trial court failed to

3

:

determine that there was an affirmative, voluntary, knowing, intelligent or on the record. The Court of Appeals also rejected the arguement that <u>Abad v. Cozza</u> requires an arraignment and deferred prosecution hearings to be conducted "on the record... a term of art meaning familiar to lawyers" and the <u>offending party that fails to conduct the proceeding on</u> the record really has no excuse for failing to "tell it in a way that puts it <u>on the record."</u> <u>State v. Hackett</u>, 122 Wn.2d 165, 174, 857 P.2d 1026 (1993)(defense attorney cannot reset the "speedy trial rule clock" if he does not put "on the record" that his client was present in the county). Washington courts strictly guard a defendant's constitutional rights to assure that proceedings occur outside the public courtroom in only the most unusual circumstances. <u>State v. Strode</u>, 167 Wn.2d 222, 226, 217 P.3d 310 (2009).

The Court of Appeals rejected the argument that Hulet was entitled to be informed of his crime or its consequences. When the necessary elements are neither found nor fairly implied in the charging document, prejudice is presumed and the conviction is reversed. <u>State v. Goodman</u>, 150 Wn.2d 774, 788, 83 P.3d 410 (2004)(citing <u>State v. McCarty</u>, 140 Wn.2d 420, 425, 998 P.2d 296 (2000). See also <u>State v. Haberman</u>, 105 Wn.App. 926, 22 P.3d 264

4

÷

(2001)(reversing on due process grounds for trial court failure to adequately inform the defendant of the crime). The deferred prosecution hearing was destroyed. The Court of Appeals rejected the notion that Hulet was even actively misled be the petition for deferred prosecution (CP. 106-109) and especially the "order granting" the deferred prosecution, which references a "case history and assessment" that doesn't exist, and police reports that were not "attached." No case history or report of any state-approved treatment center appears on the docket or in the clerk's file with the petition; and no police reports are attached to the petition. This is error. If a deferred prosecution petition alleges an alcohol problem, the "arraigning judge" in a deferred prosecution proceeding may continue that arraignment for further diagnostic investigation and evaluation, pursuant to former RCW 10.05.030, after reviewing the "case history and written assessment prepared by an approved alcoholism treatment program" under former RCW 10.05.020(1). See also RCW 46.61.513 (1998)(criminal history and driving record must be verified immediately before the court defers prosecution).

The errors are magnified by the lack of an electronic recording of the hearing. There currently exists no evidence that the

5

•

"petition" was signed in the presence of the judge. The authenticity of Hulet's signature is not authenticated (the jurat is improperly worded and violates two of the four requirements of RCW 9A.72.085 (it was not signed under penalty of perjury and it fails to disclose the place where it was signed). The judge failed to go over the petition with Hulet. The "order granting" the deferred prosecution, which also references a "filed" report of a state-approved treatment center that does not exist, <u>does not have Hulet's signature on it</u>, as well as the mandatory findings identifying each constitutional right Hulet waived.. CP. 151-154.

In addition to the due process violations that a lack of strict compliance with RALJ 5.4 will cause, it is notable that one part the deferred prosecution "petition" states:

"I understand that if I proceed to trial and I am found guilty, I may be allowed to seek suspension of some or all the fines and incarceration if I seek treatment." CP.107. (emphasis added)

After complying with the agreement for four years, and appearing at the revocation hearing, demonstrating that he had sought and was still seeking treatment, and seeking suspension of the incarceration, the trial court ruled that he could not suspend the "mandatory" incarceration. Hulet was not advised that there would

:

be any "mandatory jail sentence" on revocation of the deferred prosecution. Here, the trial judge "assumed" at the RALJ 5.4 hearing that there was a discussion of a "mandatory jail sentence." That is absurd, an appellant can't appeal assumptions.

If such a mandatory sentence existed at the time of the deferred prosecution, why does the form state that the entire term of incarceration can be waived? Since the petition and order were not entered "on the record" in this case, the misinformation is a manifest injustice and violates Hulet's right to a "knowing" entry into a deferred prosecution, including the procedural and sentencing consequences. See Acrey, supra; State v. Cosner, 85 Wn.2d 45, 530 P.2d 317 (1975)(lack of notice of mandatory weapons enhancement in the charging statement or at arraignment is a due process violation). State v. Turley, 149 Wn.2d 395, 398-99, 69 P.3d 338 (2003)(a guilty plea is involuntary if it fails to inform an accused person of the direct consequences of conviction). The RALJ 5.4 hearing judge asked the rhetorical question - "Why would there be discussion of work release at a deferred prosecution hearing, when there is a mandatory sentence?" This should beg the question back, why would the paperwork suggest suspension of all jail time? Here,

the error is magnified by the fact that the order granting the deferred prosecution does not contain a mandatory finding under RCW 10.05.020, that "(c) the petitioner has acknowledged and waived the right to testify, the right to a speedy [and public] trial, the right to call witnesses to testify, the right to present evidence in his or her defense, and the right to a jury trial." The Washington Supreme Court uses a "plain language" analysis to decide a RCW 10.05 issue involving treatment plans. See State v. Velazquez, Wn.2d (en banc, Jan. 17, 2013). Here, the trial court did not comply with the requirements of RCW 46.61.513 (Immediately before the court defers prosecution... or orders a sentence for any offense... the court and prosecutor shall verify the defendant's criminal history and driving record); ... The order shall include specific findings as to the criminal history and driving record.... the driving record shall include all information reported to the court by the department of licensing" and the court violated the requirements of RCW 10.05.020(3).

RCW 10.05.020(3) clearly states: "Before entry of an order deferring prosecution, a petitioner <u>shall be advised</u> of his or her rights as an accused <u>and execute... a statement...</u>" It would render whole portions of the statute meaningless if this court feels that RAP 5.4 does

8

:

not require a record of what the judge "advised" the petitioner in a deferred prosecution. The statute requires the existence of such advice "and" the executed statement. Notably, the statute further mandates that "(4) Before entering an order deferring prosecution, the court shall make specific findings that: ... (c) the petitioner has acknowledged and waived the right to testify, the right to a speedy trial, the right to call witnesses to testify, the right to present evidence in his or her defense, and the right to a jury trial; and (d) the petitioner's statements were made knowingly and voluntarily. Such findings shall be included in the order granting deferred prosecution." Again, it would violate the Supreme Court's "plain unambiguous statutory analysis" if there don't really need to be any record of any findings "before entering an order" and the order itself doesn't really need to contain all the listed findings. In other words, the RAP 5.4 motion clearly had merit, and the trial judge appeared to concede, when asking rhetorical questions at the RAP 5.4 hearing, that it is anybody's guess what actually happened when Hulet's deferred prosecution was induced.

The missing record is a fundamental error of constitutional magnitude, precluding the trial and appellate courts from claiming that the missing records were immaterial and not

substantial, since the trial court never found "on the record" or in the written orders of the court, that Aaron Hulet waived his constitutional rights to a speedy public trial, his right to call witnesses to testify, to present evidence in his defense, and to a jury/ RAP 5.4 should protect a defendant from constitutional deprivations by the municipal court of the City of Olympia, and the destruction of the arraignment and deferred prosecution clearly merits reversal.

There is a clear problem here, that will recur again and again as courts use the Secretary of State District and Municipal Court Records Retention Schedule (RRS), to destroy records after three years, when a closer analysis is that trial court proceedings must be retained until 30 days after a defendants' appeal rights in a "case" have been exhausted or the expiration of the appeal period for the case. As the trial court seemingly conceded in this case, the Clerk erroneously destroyed the hearing tapes/electronic recordings in 2009. See 7/27/2011 RP.

Washington citizens need to receive clear guidance from Washington's Appellate Courts that RAP 5.4 is intended to ensure a fully-reviewable record. See, for example, <u>State v. Cosner</u>, 85 Wn.2d 45, 530 P.2d 317 (1975)(lack of notice of mandatory weapons

10

΄.

enhancement in the charging statement or at arraignment is a due process violation); <u>State v. Turley</u>, 149 Wn.2d 395, 398-99, 69 P.3d 338 (2003)(plea is involuntary if it fails to inform an accused of the direct consequences of conviction). Here, the petition process violated RCW 10.05.030 (review of sentencing consequences, and criminal history), and the order granting the deferred prosecution <u>does not contain</u> a mandatory finding under RCW 10.05.020, that "(c) the petitioner has acknowledged and waived the right to testify, the right to a speedy [and public] trial, the right to call witnesses to testify, the right to present evidence in his or her defense, and the right to a jury trial." This missing finding is a fundamental error of constitutional magnitude, precluding the trial court from holding a subsequent trial without witnesses, defense evidence, and a jury (as provided in the constitution).

RAP 5.4 is the appellant's protection from municipal court violations of procedural due process. Such violations of due process were recently reiterated and emphasized by the Washington Supreme Court in <u>State v. Morales</u>, 173 Wn.2d 560, 269 P.3d 263 (2012)(reversing due to defective advice of rights at time of blood/alcohol testing because "No one could testify to exactly what

was read to Mr. Morales. So he was not properly advised of the warning."). See also <u>Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts</u>, 129 S.Ct. 2627 (2009)(failure to authenticate records violates confrontation clause); <u>Commonwealth v. Castillo</u>, 66 Mass. App. Ct. 34, 37 (2006) (trial on stipulated facts not constitutionally capable of supporting conviction absent colloquy regarding constitutional rights waived).

It seems a little hypocritical to hold law enforcement officers to a standard that requires identification of "exactly what was read to [a defendant]" while permitting judicial officers to flagrantly violate RCW 10.05.020, and to destroy the electronic record at these critical stages in the accused defendant's prosecution. This dichotomy between the high standards imposed on law enforcement officers and a lower standard for judicial officers is a matter of substantial public import. It is inescapable, that municipal court destroyed the entire arraignment and deferred prosecution, which violates the rule in <u>State</u> <u>v. Osman</u>, 168 Wn.2d 632; 229 P.3d 729 (2010)(RALJ 5.4 does not permit replacing a lost, material record by reconstructing it from other sources; the rule resolves that issue by granting a new trial).

PART II

Was the sentencing of Mr. Hulet defective as a result of a prior misrepresentation of the sentencing consequences and other defects when securing a deferred prosecution, misuse of a "3rd DUI" and "good time" and the court's use of a more stringent standard for determining if Mr. Hulet should qualify for the medical exception to confinement (RCW 46.61.5055)?

Insufficiency of the evidence may be raised for the first time on appeal. City of Seattle v. Slack, 113 Wash.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 494 (1989) ("Due process requires the State to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt; thus, sufficiency of the evidence is a question of constitutional magnitude and can be raised initially on appeal.") (citing State v. Baeza, 100 Wash.2d 487, 488, 670 P.2d 646 (1983)). In City of Seattle v. Winebrenner, 167 Wn.2d 451, 219 P.3d 686 (2009), the court explained that, for purposes of sentencing, the "prior offense" must occur "in time or order" before the offense for which a sentence is being imposed. Also, "prior offenses" do not include the offense for which the deferred prosecution is being revoked. In the Winebrenner case, evidence established that the second defendant, Quezada, had a 2001 DUI conviction, a 2002 DUI on deferred prosecution for which he was being sentenced, and a 2005 conviction for reckless driving that caused the revocation of the 2002 DUI deferred prosecution. The Supreme Court explained that the trial court properly concluded that the sentence for the 2002 DUI involved one "prior offense" (the 2001

•

conviction), for which the trial court sentenced Quezada to <u>120 days of</u> <u>electronic home monitoring</u> in lieu of any jail time. The Court of Appeals believed Quezada should have been sentenced on the basis of two prior offenses. The Washington Supreme Court analyzed the language contained in RCW 46.61.5055, and reversed the Court of Appeals, reinstating the trial court's 120-day EHM sentence, because the record established that Quezada only had one "prior offense" to the 2002 DUI.

The prosecution has the burden of proving prior convictions by a preponderance of the evidence. <u>State v. Lopez</u>, 147 Wn.2d 515, 519, 55 P.3d 609 (2002). It is the obligation of the prosecution, not the defendant, to assure that the record before the sentencing court supports the criminal history determination. <u>State v.</u> <u>Mendoza</u>, 165 Wn.2d 913, 920, 205 P.3d 113 (2009). As the court recently explained in <u>In Re Adolph</u>, 170 Wn.2d 556, 243 P.3d 540 (2010), the best method of proving a prior conviction is by the production of a certified copy of the judgment, but other "comparable documents of record or transcripts of prior proceedings are admissible to establish criminal history." No "documents of record" were admitted here, and thus Aaron Hulet is entitled to a sentence on

the basis of zero "prior" offenses.

Although the prosecutor mentioned that Aaron Hulet had a 2003 "DUI" once at the outset of the sentencing hearing (5/17/2011 Hearing at page 2), the only "document of record" of any other offenses was the evidence that Hulet had been charged in 2010 for a DUI that occurred in 2010. Throughout the sentencing proceeding, the court and prosecutor kept repeating that it was Aaron Hulet's third DUI conviction. Use of the 2010 conviction to enhance Aaron Hulet's sentence on a 2006 offense violates the rule in Moreover, the lack of any evidence of a 2003 Winebrenner. conviction in the clerk's papers and hearing transcripts demonstrates that the prosecutor never produced anything to verify that the 2003 "DUI" resulted in a conviction. Because the City failed to introduce any evidence of any "prior offense" that Aaron Hulet's supposedly committed, the trial court erred in repeatedly claiming that the sentence imposed was based on three DUI convictions. The appropriate action on appeal when the prosecutor fails to introduce sufficient evidence of prior DUI offenses to support the conviction and sentence is to remand for entry of the lesser conviction and sentence. State v. Santos, 163 Wn. App. 780; 260 P.3d 982 (2011).

RCW 46.61.5055 sets out a penalty schedule for persons convicted of certain alcohol related offenses, when the offender has a BAC of at least 0.15, based on the number of "prior" deferrals or convictions within seven years of the current offense. If no evidence of prior convictions is established, the sentence is 2 days to 364 days of imprisonment, with a minimum of 2 days unless the "well-being" exception applies, in which case the court will impose no less than 30 days' electronic home monitoring in lieu of imprisonment. With evidence of one or two prior convictions, the sentence can increase. See RCW 46.61.5055(2)(b)(i)-(ii)). To avoid an insufficiency of the evidence reversal, the legislature has laid out a procedure a trial and sentencing court are supposed to follow "immediately before" deferring prosecution under RCW 10.05.020, and before ordering a sentence for violations of RCW 46.61.502. The trial court must "verify the defendant's criminal history and driving record" and the orders in each proceeding "must include specific findings as to the criminal history and driving record" including "all previous convictions and orders of deferred prosecution, as reported through the judicial information system or otherwise available to the court or prosecutor." RCW 46.61.513. Here, it is indisputable that the trial court included no criminal history and driving record in its orders, it clearly did not receive that evidence into the record at sentencing. See In Re Adolph, 170 Wn.2d 556, 243 P.3d 540 (2010), the best method of proving a requisite conviction is by the production of a certified copy of the judgment, but other "comparable documents of record or transcripts of prior proceedings are admissible to establish criminal history.

As noted above, RCW 46.61.513 was violated at <u>both the</u> <u>deferral stage</u> and the sentencing stage. This is not a trivial law, and the court should reverse any sentence that proceeds in violation of the statute, particularly here, since the record at the deferred prosecution stage was destroyed and the City and trial court were confused, at best, when the City started discussing criminal history and did not produce any evidence of any conviction in 2003. Notably, the 2010 conviction, which is the only conviction that was entered into the record to support a two-violation sentence, is the one conviction that is <u>not</u> a permissible one to include in the calculation at sentencing. <u>City of Seattle v.</u> <u>Winebrenner</u>, 167 Wn.2d 451, 219 P.3d 686 (2009).

As noted in the statement of the case previous PART A

•

of this brief, the only record of what defendant was assured at his initial arraignment was that he could receive an unspecified fine "and/or" a jail sentence. CP. 13. Similarly, the deferred prosecution "petition" in this matter assured the Defendant that "all" of the incarceration could be suspended. CP. 107. Offering suspension of "all" jail time, contradicts the trial judge's comment at the RALJ 5.4 hearing that there was obviously a "mandatory minimum" that can't be suspended in whole or part. Absent any record to the contrary from the hearing itself, the misinformation in Hulet's "petition" for deferred prosecution is a manifest injustice and violates Hulet's right to a "knowing" entry into a deferred prosecution, including the procedural and sentencing consequences. See Acrey, supra; State v. Cosner, 85 Wn.2d 45, 530 P.2d 317 (1975)(lack of notice of mandatory weapons enhancement in the charging statement or at arraignment is a due process violation).

PART III

Did the Court of Appeals violate Aaron Hulet's right to appeal and *appellate* due process?

The Court of Appeals stated, erroneously, that the Appellant failed to make any specific allegation or showing that his due process requirements were violated. This court should read the record before

.

the Appellate Court (Superior Court) and the Motion to Modify, and the Brief of Petitioner to the Court of Appeals. They repeatedly identify due process violations that would normally be easy to brief, based upon a report of proceedings. This Appellant had to brief them without a report of proceedings, and the Court of Appeals rejected the argument that there were due process violations, coupled with the fact that Mr. Hulet never knowingly waived his constitutional rights, by unfairly suggesting that identifying those due process violations is not enough.

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