RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 02, 2014, 9:53 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Supreme Court No. 90236-4 Court of Appeals No. 43059-2-II RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF OLYMPIA, Respondent

٧.

AARON HULET, Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Rocio D. Guerra, WSBA# 34082 Lee Creighton Justice Center 900 Plum Street SE Olympia, WA 98501 360.753.8449 rguerra@ci.olympia.wa.us

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES AND CITATIONS

Cases			
State v. Hunley, 175 Wn. 2d 901, 287 P.3d 584 (2012)			
State v. Modica, 136 Wn. App. 434, 455 n.9, 149 P.3d 446 (2006)5			
Orwick v. Seattle, 103 Wn.2d 249, 256, 692 P.2d 793 (1984)5			
State v. Osman, 168 Wn. 2d 632, 638-39, 229 P.3d 729 (2010)4			
In Re Rosier, 105 Wn. 2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986)			
Rules/Statutes			
RCW 10.05			
RCW 46.61.50554			
RCW 46.61.5055(2)(b)(i)			
RALJ 5.4			
RAP 13.4(b)			

I. PARTY SEEKING RELIEF

The City of Olympia, the respondent herein, requests the relief set out in Section II.

II. RELIEF SOUGHT

The Petition for Review should be denied.

III. <u>FACTS</u>

On June 12, 2006, Aaron Hulet, the petitioner herein, was charged by citation in Olympia Municipal Court with the crime of Driving While Under the Influence (DUI). CP 5. On June 13, 2006, Hulet appeared in person and was arraigned. He entered a plea of 'not guilty.' CP 5. On June 28, 2006, attorney Leslie Ching filed a notice of appearance on Hulet's behalf. CP 5. On August 22, 2006, Mr. Ching appeared with Hulet and petitioned the court for a Deferred Prosecution pursuant to RCW 10.05. CP 6 and CP 106. The Olympia Municipal Court granted the petition for Deferred Prosecution. CP 7 and CP 147, CP 151.

On March 15, 2011, Hulet appeared in the Municipal Court with his attorney, Mr. Charles Clapperton, for a hearing on an allegation that Hulet had violated the terms and conditions of his deferred prosecution.

CP 9. Specifically, it was alleged that Hulet had committed a new DUI offense on August 4, 2010 that resulted in a charge being filed in Thurston County District Court. CP 140. Hulet eventually pled guilty to that DUI

charge in District Court. The Municipal Court revoked the deferred prosecution and found Hulet guilty of the DUI as alleged in the citation. CP 9. On May 17, 2011, the Municipal Court held a sentencing hearing. Hulet appeared with counsel, Mr. Clapperton. CP 10. He submitted a lengthy sentencing statement (CP 50) with several attached statements of support. Hulet requested that he be relieved of the mandatory jail time required in DUI sentences, as allowed by RCW 46.61.5055(2)(b)(i), because the jail time would "impose a substantial risk to the offender's physical or mental well-being."

The Municipal Court imposed the mandatory minimum sentence based on Mr. Hulet's alcohol concentration and number of prior DUI offenses. CP 10 and CP 119. This is the sentence requested by Hulet in his sentencing memorandum (CP 57), with the exception that the Municipal Court did not allow the jail time to be served as less than total confinement. (CP 119).

On June 7, 2011, Hulet filed a Notice of Appeal with the Thurston County Superior Court. CP 15. On July 1, 2011, while the case was pending on appeal, Hulet filed a Notice of Missing Record and Request for Ruling in the Olympia Municipal Court. CP 204. The Municipal Court found that the missing record, namely the audio recording for the arraignment and entry of deferred prosecution from 2006, was not material

and that the documentary record was sufficient. RP 5 and 12. The hearing on the RALJ appeal was heard before the Hon. Gary Tabor on February 12, 2012, at which time the decision of the Olympia Municipal Court was affirmed. RP 27-30.

On February 27, 2012, Hulet filed a Motion for Discretionary

Review with Division II of the Court of Appeals. On April 2, 2012 review was denied. On May 3, 2012, Hulet filed a Motion to Modify

Commissioner's ruling.

The Court of Appeals considered the motion without argument and affirmed the lower court on April 15, 2014.

IV. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF AND ARGUMENT

(a) Standard of Review

Hulet has filed a "Petition for Review" asking this court to review the Court of Appeals decision in *City of Olympia v. Hulet*, No. 43059-2-II (April 15, 2014). The Court of Appeals granted review on two specific issues: "(1) the denial of [Hulet's] RALJ 5.4 motion for a new trial, and (2) his sentencing." *City v. Hulet*, No 43059-2-II, at 2. Hulet's other alleged errors, including but not limited to, challenges to the arraignment, waiver of rights, and the entry of deferred prosecution were not before the Court of Appeals.

In regards to the RALJ 5.4 motion, the Court of Appeals held that the missing audio recording of Hulet's arraignment and entry of deferred prosecution from 2006 was not significant or material to the appeal. The Court of Appeals further noted that "[i]n *Osman*, our Supreme Court was clear that whether a lost or damaged record is significant or material does not warrant consideration of the merits of the appellate issue." *City v. Hulet*, at 3, FN4 citing *State v. Osman*, 168 Wn.2d 632, 638-39, 229 P.3d 729 (2010).

With respect to sentencing, the Court of Appeals held that the City was not required to provide certified documentation regarding defendant's prior conviction for DUI because defendant affirmatively acknowledge his criminal history. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not err in sentencing Hulet as a second time DUI offender and did not err in rejecting the medical exemption under RCW 46.61.5055.

Hulet must demonstrate that this case fits into one of the reviewability prerequisites under RAP 13.4(b).

Under RAP 13.4(b), "A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only" if one or more of the following conditions are met:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added).

A considerable portion of Hulet's petition is devoted to arguing the merits as if this court has accepted review. However, the City respectfully requests that this court determine the threshold issue of reviewability.

(b) The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court

Hulet states that "[t]he decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court." See Petition for Review, Part IV. Although Hulet makes a passing reference to *State v. Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d 901, 287 P.3d 584 (2012), there is no analysis of how the Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts. *Id*.

Hulet had the opportunity to explain why this case merits review by the Supreme Court and has inexplicably failed to do so. It is not this court's responsibility, nor is it the City's responsibility, to do counsel's thinking and briefing. *Orwick v. Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 249, 256, 692 P.2d 793 (1984).

Moreover, it should be noted that the Court of Appeals relied upon *Hunley*, provided an analysis of the holding, and properly distinguished this case on the facts. In *Hunley*, this court held that in presenting prior criminal history at sentencing, a "prosecutor's summary, without more, is insufficient to satisfy due process." *State v. Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d at 915. However, the Court of Appeals noted that the defendant acknowledged his prior DUI convictions in a letter to the court. CP at 46.

Hulet has failed to establish a conflict with this court's prior decisions.

(c) The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any other decision of the Court of Appeals.

Hulet has not argued that the decision for which review is requested conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals.

Moreover, Hulet has not provided any decisions from the Court of Appeals. Therefore, this court should find that no conflicting Court of Appeals decision exists. At a minimum, Hulet has failed to establish a conflict with other Court of Appeals decisions.

(d) The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals does not present any significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States.

Hulet asserts that "the matter before the court constitutes a significant question of law under the Washington and U.S.

constitutions..." See Petition for Review, part IV. However, Hulet has provided no legal analysis to support this bold assertion.

"[N]aked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." *In re Rosier*, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986), *superseded by statute on other grounds* by Laws of 1987, ch. 403, § 1; See also *State v. Modica*, 136 Wn.App. 434, 455 n.9, 149 P.3d 446 (2006).

Hulet has failed to establish that the Court of Appeals decision raises a significant question of law under the state or federal constitution. Moreover, it should be noted that the Court of Appeals granted discretionary review on two limited issues: Hulet's RALJ 5.4 motion and his sentencing. The Court of Appeals decisions on these issues do not present significant questions of law under the state or federal constitutions.

(e) The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals does not present any issue of substantial public interest.

Hulet asserts that "the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court..." See Petition for Review, part IV. Hulet has provided this court with no analysis in support of this conclusion.

In deciding if an issue involves a "substantial public interest," this court will consider (1) the public or private nature of the question

presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question. *State v. Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d at 907.

As stated previously, the Court of Appeals addressed two limited issues: the RALJ 5.4 motion and sentencing. As to the RALJ 5.4 motion, the likelihood of recurrence is very low and weighs against review because of the unique facts, the particular procedural history of this case and specific records at issue. Moreover, an authoritative determination for future guidance of public officers is not necessary because RALJ 5.4 very clearly sets out the standard for a new trial based on missing records. The application of this standard will only vary because of specific facts for a given case not because of any ambiguity in the standard.

As to the sentencing, the particular set of facts weighs against review. First, as to the medical exemption, the Court of Appeals decision in this case was based on the particular evidence presented at the sentencing hearing and the specific nature of Hulet's medical condition. This specific scenario with the same underlying condition is unlikely to recur. Moreover, an authoritative determination by the Supreme Court is not likely to provide much guidance to the trial court in the exercise of discretion in this regard. Second, as to Hulet's criminal history, the facts weigh against review. In light of the sentencing memorandum and Hulet's

own admissions, prior DUI history is not genuinely in dispute. CP 22-29; CP 45. The likelihood of recurrence is low and weighs against review. Moreover, an authoritative determination by the Supreme Court is unnecessary since, in this case, Hulet has acknowledged his prior history. Additionally, it is worth noting that for misdemeanor sentencing the trial court could impose a jail sentence up to the maximum of 364 days. In other words, even if the court did not find that the prior DUI was proven, the court's sentence was still legally permissible.

In sum, in light of the discretionary nature of misdemeanor sentencing, the admissions in the record to facts which are now being contested, and the unique procedural and substantive history of this case, there is no substantial public interest to merit Supreme Court review.

V. CONCLUSION

The City of Olympia requests that the Petition for Review be denied.